IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

STEVEN TURNER,)	NO.	76465
Appellant,)		Electronically Filed Feb 04 2019 12:29 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown
VS.)		Clerk of Supreme Court
THE STATE OF NEVADA,	Ś		
Respondent.)		

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

(Appeal from Judgment of Conviction)

DARIN F. IMLAY CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF. 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685

Attorney for Appellant

STEVEN WOLFSON CLARK COUNTY DIST. ATTY. 200 Lewis Avenue, 3rd Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4711

AARON D. FORD Attorney General 100 North Carson Street Carson City, Nevada 89701 (775) 684-1265

Counsel for Respondent

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The appellant, Steven Turner ("Turner"), appeals from his judgment of conviction pursuant to **NRAP 4(b)** and **NRS 177.015**. Steven's judgment of conviction was filed on July 2, 2018. (Appellant's Appendix Vol. III:701-703). This Court has jurisdiction over Turner's appeal, which was timely filed on July 18, 2018. (III:704-06). <u>See NRS 177.015(1)(a)</u>.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals because Turner went to trial and was convicted of three B felonies: two counts of attempt murder with use of a deadly weapon, and one count of

^{&#}x27; Hereinafter, citations to the Appellant's Appendix will start with the volume number, followed by the specific page number. For example, (Appellant's Appendix Vol. III:701-703) will be shortened to (III:701-703).

battery with use of a deadly weapon resulting in substantial bodily harm. See NRAP 17(b)(2).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. A JOINT TRIAL VIOLATED TURNER'S DUE PROCESS AND FAIR TRIAL RIGHTS.
- II. THE COURT ADMITTED UNNOTICED AND UNQUALIFIED EXPERT TESTIMONY IN VIOLATION OF TURNER'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS.
- III. IT WAS UNDULY PREJUDICIAL FOR UNIFORMED POLICE OFFICERS TO PACK THE COURTROOM DURING CLOSING ARGUMENTS.
- IV. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT TAINTED THE TRIAL.
- V. CUMULATIVE ERROR REQUIRES REVERSAL.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 23, 2015, Turner was indicted along with co-defendant Clemon Hudson on six charges: (1) conspiracy to commit burglary, (2) attempt burglary while in possession of a firearm or deadly weapon, (3) attempt murder with use of a deadly weapon, (4) attempt murder with use of a deadly weapon resulting in substantial bodily harm, and (6) discharging firearm at/into an occupied structure. (I:1-6).

At his initial arraignment on October 5, 2015, Turner pled not guilty and waived the 60-day rule. (III:710). Over the next two years, the trial date

was continued multiple times while the parties attempted to negotiate a plea deal. (III:712,716,717). Turner was prepared to accept the State's offer to plead guilty to one count of attempt murder with use of a deadly weapon and one count of conspiracy to commit burglary. However, that offer was contingent on Hudson *also* accepting the State's offer. (IV:726). When Hudson refused the State's offer on March 22, 2018, the offer was withdrawn and Turner was forced to stand trial. (IV:726).

United States, 391 U.S. 123, 135-37 (1968), on the basis that Turner had given statements to police that incriminated Hudson and Hudson would not have an opportunity to cross-examine Turner about those statements at trial. (XI:2247-52). Turner joined the motion, arguing that Hudson's statements to police incriminated Turner and that he, too, would be unable to cross-examine Hudson about those statements at trial. (II:276-472). The district court denied the joint motion without prejudice, believing that the incriminating statements could be adequately redacted to avoid prejudice to the parties. (III:718). Thereafter, Turner proposed numerous redactions and the court accepted some, *but not all*, of those requests. See Court Exhibit A, November 30, 2017.

On April 16, 2018, Turner and Hudson's joint trial commenced. (IV:730). On the first day of trial, the State filed an Amended Indictment in open court, dismissing count 6: discharging a firearm at/into an occupied structure. (III:558-62;IV:730). In their opening statements, both Turner and Hudson conceded they were guilty of count 1 (conspiracy to commit burglary) and count 2 (attempt burglary) but challenged the remaining charges. (VII:1271-72). After a ten-day trial, on April 27, 2018, the jury found both Turner and Hudson guilty of all five charges. (III:618-19:IV:739).

On May 4, 2018, Turner moved for a new trial based, in part, on the court's failure to sever the co-defendants' trials. (III:620-26). The State opposed Turner's motion on May 8, 2018. (III:654-57). At a hearing on June 19, 2018, the court denied Turner's motion. (IV:741).

On June 21, 2018, Turner was adjudged guilty of counts 1-5 and given an aggregate sentence of 14-40 years with 1022 days credit for time served and was ordered to pay restitution in the amount of \$9,099.98, jointly and severally with Hudson. (IV:742). Turner's judgment of conviction was filed on July 2, 2018. (III:701-703). Turner timely appealed his convictions on July 18, 2018. (III:704-05).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Eric Clarkson lived with his best friend and roommate, Willoughby Potter de Grimaldi, in a house located at 6729 Oveja Circle, in Las Vegas. (VII:1302,1304).

At around 3:30 a.m. on September 4, 2015, Clarkson was in his bedroom playing on his phone, watching TV, and getting ready for bed. (VII:1304). After Clarkson turned out the lights and got into bed, he heard the sound of his steel outdoor patio chairs being moved across the bricks. (VII:1306). Clarkson sat up in his bed and looked out his window. (VII:1307). Clarkson saw a figure walk by and, after taking a closer look, he determined it was a young black man. (VII:1308).

Clarkson grabbed his phone, alerted his roommate to the situation and called 911 to report a prowler in his backyard. (VII:1308). When Clarkson's roommate Grimaldi went to the back window, which was directly to the right of the back door, he saw the silhouette of a black man with a billed cap on his head, cocking what appeared to be a shotgun. (VII:1311,1338). Grimaldi relayed this description to Clarkson so he could share it with the 911 operator. (VII:1340).

Shortly thereafter, Clarkson and Grimaldi heard somebody beating on their front door. (VII:1311,1340). Grimaldi went to the living room and

looked out the front window to see who it was. (VII:1312,1340). Out the window, Grimaldi saw a tall (6'1"), shirtless black man with a round, two-inch afro and black basketball shorts. (VII:1342,1344,1358).

After seeing the second man at the front door, Grimaldi saw a third person out of the corner of his eye, running past his bedroom window. (VII:1341-42,1359). Grimaldi rushed over to his bedroom window, where he saw a black man with a "wild and spiky" afro that was approximately 1-2 inches in length. (VII:1345,1359). Grimaldi did not recognize <u>any</u> of the three prowlers. (VII:1347).

When Grimaldi went back to the front window, he saw the shirtless man with the two-inch afro bolt away from the front door and cross the culde-sac in front of the house. (VII:1345). Shortly thereafter, Officers Malik Grego-Smith and Jeremy Robertson arrived at the home. (VII:1314,1348;VIII:1598,1650).

When Clarkson let the officers inside, the house was completely dark. (VII:1314;VIII:1606). Clarkson made both officers aware of a person on the back patio and the officers proceeded to the back of the house. (VII:1314;VIII:1606-07).

At trial, both officers testified that when Robertson looked out the back window to see if there was anyone in the back yard, Robertson did not

see anyone there. (VIII:1608,1652). At that point, the officers decided to "clear the back yard" – meaning they would search to see if there was anyone there. (VIII:1608). They decided that Robertson would open the back door, and as he opened the door, Grego-Smith would go through and Robertson would follow. (VIII:1609).

Grego-Smith took out his weapon: a Glock 17 with .9 mm bullets. (VIII:1609-10). As Robertson unlocked the door and Grego-Smith took a step to go outside, "two shots" came in from outside on the patio. (VIII:1612-13). Clarkson testified that one of the bullets looked like "[m]olten metal, red and blue" and the other bullet looked "like a giant sparkler had gone off in my living room." (VII:1318).

A bullet pierced Robertson's upper thigh, fracturing his femur. (VIII:1656). Robertson fell to the ground behind Grego-Smith. (VIII:1612). Grego-Smith took one step back behind cover, dropped to one knee, and returned fire toward the patio, ultimately firing 12 shots.² (VIII:1612-14).

Grego-Smith turned his flashlight on right when he started shooting and saw "a light-skinned black male with no shirt and purple basketball

² Police recovered 12 Speer .9 mm cartridge casings from the dining room area where Grego-Smith fired his gun. (VIII:1550-51).

shorts" on the patio. (VII:1614,1617,1633). Grego-Smith yelled out, "Don't move, keep your hands up, don't move or I'll fucking shoot you." (VIII:1616). Then, Grego-Smith radioed dispatch to tell them that shots had been fired, that an officer was down and that they needed units there. (VIII:1616).

Within 4 ½ minutes, the other units began to arrive. (VIII:1616). The officers took Robertson out in front of the house to perform an "officer down rescue". (VIII:1617). Then, K-9 officers arrived and went into the back yard. (VIII:1618). Police found Hudson lying on the ground with a shotgun between his legs and a rifle⁴ immediately where he was lying. (VIII:1514). Police also found a small Beretta handgun nearby. (VII:1452).

Grego-Smith followed K-9 and officers into the back yard where he saw Hudson being taken into custody. (VIII:1618). At trial, Grego-Smith confirmed that Hudson was <u>not</u> the shirtless black man in basketball shorts that he had seen in the back yard when he turned on his flashlight. (VIII:1623).

³ At preliminary hearing, Grego-Smith testified that he saw a "black male with no shirt and basketball shorts." (I:30). The shorts did not become "purple" until trial.

⁴ The rifle was described in the indictment as an "SKS" rifle, and the weapon that shot Officer Robertson. (III:568-69;V:872). At trial, witnesses described it as an "SKS rifle" (VII:1449,1456), an "AK-47" (IX:1692-94), and a "Yugo long rifle". (IX:1705).

In addition to securing the crime scene itself, Metro set up a large perimeter around the crime scene which ran a mile-and-a-half east-to-west and a mile north-to-south. (VIII:1524). Detective Jeremy Vance spent three-and-a-half hours driving around the inside of this perimeter looking for the suspect that Grego-Smith had seen in the back yard. (VIII:1524). Yet, instead of finding a shirtless man in basketball shorts, Vance came across Turner, who was wearing a purple shirt, a pair of bright orange pajama bottoms, and white converse shoes. (VIII:1528 & State's Exhibit 28).

Vance and his partner got out of their vehicle, identified themselves, and began asking Turner some basic questions. (VIII:1528). Turner told the officers his name was "Devonte Turner". (IX:1770). Vance noticed that Turner was injured when he saw blood on his pants trickling down his leg into his shoe area. (VIII:1529). When Vance asked Turner about his leg, Turner pulled up his pant leg and said, "I jumped over a wall at my friend's house and caught my leg on the fence." (VIII:1529). However, Vance thought it looked like a gunshot wound, not a tear from going over a fence. (VIII:2639).

Next, Turner was interviewed by Detective Eduardo Pazos. (IX:1767-68). Turner again identified himself as "Devonte Turner." (IX:1767). When Pazos asked Turner about the injury to his leg, Turner told him he got the

injury from "hopping over a fence", not from the police. (IX:1770). Turner told Pazos that "the wrong people pulled up and influenced me to go on a ride with them." (IX:1772). Turner initially claimed that he was outside the whole time anything at the house was going on. (IX:1772). Turner explained that when he was outside, he "hears shit go off, hears guns go off, and runs." (IX:1772).

Turner explained that they were in the house to "do a lick", which he described as, "[s]omebody trying to come up on somebody." (IX:1773). Turner said that "someone⁵ came to pick him up" around midnight and there were just "two people" in the car. (IX:1773,1775). Turner said he sat in the front seat of the car. (IX:1773). Turner said he recognized an SKS weapon that "looked like" his uncle's and was "brown with, like, a green handle and brownish-tannish". (IX:1773). Turner said he "believed" the rifle was loaded. (IX:1774). Turner said he didn't see any guns until they got to the residence. (IX:1775). That's when Turner said he saw the "shotty or shotgun in the back of the vehicle." (XI:1775).

Detective Pazos interviewed Turner a second time at UMC hospital. (IX:1781). During the second interview, Turner admitted that he had given

⁵ Turner identified the "someone" he was with as "Lamar" or "Mar" (III:416) but all references to "Mar" were redacted because they identified Hudson.

Pazos an incorrect name and that his real name was Steven Turner. (IX:1776). Turner told Pazos he had given him the wrong information because "he was scared" and "didn't know the seriousness of what had happened." (IX:1776). Turner told Pazos that he had been "chilling" at his house and that someone called him and told him they were going to go for a ride. (IX:1776). Turner told Pazos that when he got in the car, there were two guns in the back of the car. (IX:1776). Turner told Pazos that one of the guns looked like his uncle's gun, the SK. (IX:1777). Turner later confirmed that the SK rifle was his uncle's rifle and that he'd seen it before. (IX:1782).

Turner told Pazos that when they got to the house, the person he was with "hopped over the wall first" and that he "hopped over the wall afterwards." (IX:1777).

Turner told Pazos that when he got to the backyard, shots started being fired. (XI:1777). Turner told Pazos that when the shots were fired, he hopped over the back wall of the house. (IX:1777). Turner told Pazos that after he hopped over the back wall, he sat on a couch for a while in the neighborhood and then started walking to a friend's house. (IX:1777). Turner told Pazos that as he was walking to his friend's house, he ran into police. (IX:1777).

Turner told Pazos that there were no white guys there, and "there was nobody in the car with us." (IX:1778). Pazos asked Turner, "No other guys with you?" and Turner indicated, "No." (IX:1778).

Turner told Pazos that he knew who lived in the house and had been there before. (IX:1780).⁶ Turner told Pazos that the person who lived in the house "sells dope" or "weed" (IX:1780). Turner told Pazos that this was "going to be a dope rick." (IX:1781). Turner admitted he was there to "get weed" and that if there was any money at the house he would get that too. (IX:1782-83).

Despite his admissions, Turner *adamantly denied* having a gun in his hand during the incident. (IX:1788-89). Turner told Pazos in no uncertain terms, "I didn't shoot nobody. I ran out and left." (IX:1789). Turner told Pazos, "They just started shooting through the house, and I – that's when I took off like a bat out of Hell. I just started running." (IX:1789). When Pazos asked Turner point blank, "At no point did you have any of those firearms?" Turner said, "No". (IV:1789-90). At no point during either statement did Turner admit to having a gun in the back yard. (IX:1790).

At trial, Turner conceded that he was guilty of conspiracy to commit burglary and attempt burglary because he and Hudson <u>had</u> gone to the house

⁶ Turner admitted he had been to the house "like, twice, three times before". (XII:1782).

on Oveja Drive intending to steal weed. (VII:1268-71). However, Turner asked the jury to find him "not guilty" of possessing a firearm during the attempt burglary, and "not guilty" of attempted murder with use of a deadly weapon and battery with use of a deadly weapon causing substantial bodily harm. (X:2069).

Turner's theory of defense was that a third individual (*i.e.*, someone other than Turner or Hudson) was holding the SKS rifle that shot Officer Robertson, and that Turner was standing farther away when he was shot in the leg by Officer Grego-Smith's gun. (X:2047-51;2057-58;2061-63). Evidence presented at trial supported Turner's defense:

- Grimaldi saw three distinct individuals circling his home on the morning in question, but <u>none</u> of those individuals matched Turner's description. In fact, when defense counsel showed Grimaldi a photograph of Turner that had been taken on the day in question, Grimaldi acknowledged that he did not recognize Turner as one of the individuals he saw at the house. (VII:1362-63;XI:2359-62;State's Exhibit 28).
- Although Clarkson testified that he had known Turner for several years and that the two had been friends, (VII:1300-01), he did not see Turner at his house that night either. (VII:1332-33).
- Turner did not match the description of the shirtless individual in basketball shorts that Grego-Smith saw on the back patio, and Grego-Smith confirmed that Hudson was not that individual either. (VIII:1623).
- Turner had not changed his clothing after being shot in the leg; when arrested, he was wearing bright orange pants with holes in them that were covered in his blood. (X:2050;State's Exhibits 28-32).

- After examining 16 separate lab items, including the three firearms that allegedly belonged to the two suspects in this case, the State was unable to connect any of those items to Turner using either DNA or fingerprint analysis. (IX:1722).
- In his two statements that were admitted at trial, Turner denied having or firing a gun during the incident. (IX:1788-90).
- The State never recovered the bullet fragment from Turner's leg to determine which gun it came from. See (IX:1781).

Unfortunately, as a result of multiple, highly prejudicial trial errors, the jury convicted Turner of all charges against him.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

After a trial that was plagued by constitutional violations, Turner was wrongfully convicted of counts 3 and 4 (attempt murder with use of a deadly weapon), count 5 (battery with use of a deadly weapon causing substantial bodily harm) and count 2 (the possession of a firearm enhancement). First, Turner's confrontation clause rights were violated when he was forced to go to trial with a co-defendant who made inculpatory statements to police that were not subject to cross-examination and where the State relied on that evidence to secure his conviction. Second, Turner's rights to due process and a fair trial were violated when the State failed to notify Turner that it would introduce expert testimony to connect him with the weapon that shattered

⁷ Turner is **not** challenging his convictions for conspiracy or the underlying attempt burglary, which he conceded at trial.

Officer Robertson's leg. Third, Turner's right to a trial by an impartial jury was violated when uniformed police officers packed the courtroom during closing argument. Fourth, the State engaged repeated and sustained prosecutorial misconduct. Finally, whether considered alone or together, the aforementioned errors violated Turner's right to a fair trial and require reversal.

ARGUMENT

I. A JOINT TRIAL WITH HUDSON VIOLATED TURNER'S DUE PROCESS AND FAIR TRIAL RIGHTS.

A. Factual & Procedural History Relevant to Severance.

On August 28, 2017, Hudson filed a motion to sever his trial from Turner's trial pursuant to **Bruton v. United States**. (III:628-633). Hudson argued that severance was required because Turner had made statements to police that incriminated him, the State intended to introduce those statements

⁸ In <u>Bruton v. United States</u>, 391 U.S. 123 (1968), the Supreme Court held that in a joint trial of two defendants, it was reversible error to admit a codefendant's confession that implicated the defendant in the commission of a crime. The Supreme Court reversed Bruton's conviction because his codefendant's confession "added substantial, perhaps even critical, weight to the Government's case in a form not subject to cross-examination" and denied Bruton his Sixth Amendment right of confrontation. <u>Id</u>. at 128-29. After <u>Crawford v. Washington</u>, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), <u>Bruton</u> only applies to testimonial hearsay. <u>See Burnside v. State</u>, 352 P.3d 627, 643 (2015). Since the statements at issue in this case were "made to law enforcement in the course of interrogation", they were testimonial statements. <u>Id</u>. As a result, <u>Bruton</u> applies to the instant case.

at trial, and he would be unable to cross-examine Turner about those statements. (III:628-633).

On September 13, 2017, Turner filed a joinder to that motion because Hudson's statements to police also incriminated Turner and because he, too, would be unable to cross-examine Hudson about the statements at trial. (II:276-472;III:635-638).

The State opposed the parties' joint motion to sever, arguing that it could simply "redact" any references to the co-defendants and replace their names with "neutral pronouns" pursuant to **Richardson v. Marsh**, 481 U.S. 200 (1987),⁹ and **United States v. Enrique-Estrada**, 999 F.2d 1355 (9th Cir. 1993).¹⁰ (XI:2253-62).

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