IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

STEVEN TURNER,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Apr 03 2019 09:10 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 76465

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

DEBORAH L. WESTBROOK Chief Deputy Public Defender Nevada Bar #009285 309 South Third Street, Suite 226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4685 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

Mayfield, 14 Cal. 4th 668, 765, 928 P.2d 485 (1997) (affirming that stippling was subject matter appropriate for an expert witness and that the autopsy surgeon was qualified to give expert testimony thereupon). In fact, Mayfield suggests that on a blended subject like stippling—combining gunshot residue and injury—a medical expert has sufficient expertise to testify on matters that touch on firearm expertise. This supports the idea that the inverse is true: that a firearms expert has sufficient expertise to testify on matters that touch on medical expertise. Such knowledge is covered under a generalized expert notice on firearms, like the one provided here. II AA 261–75.

iii. <u>Lester's testimony about stippling basics and distances was permissible.</u>

Turner cannot establish the district court abused its discretion in permitting Lester to testify as an expert regarding two generalized aspects of stippling: what it is, and typical distances at which it might be seen. IX AA 1910. When the defense conducted voir dire outside the presence of the jury, Lester testified that she received training on stippling during her firearms training in 2009 and during her training in firearms' distances in 2011. IX AA 1871, 1875–76, 1878, 1881. Again, as a form of gunshot residue, stippling is included in gun residue training. IX AA 1878, 1882, 1886.

The district court's concern was not with whether stippling in general falls under the purview of firearms expertise, but rather Lester's admittedly limited

experience with stippling. IX AA 1867, 1869, 1901–02. Ultimately, however, the district court found that Lester "has testified that she has a certification in gunshot residue," and "does have sufficient qualifications to testify as an expert in a particular area of expertise." IX AA 1885. Specifically regarding what the State wanted to ask Lester, the district court found that Lester had "made determinations as to the pattern of stippling for purposes of determining -- distance determination of gunshot residue," and that therefore Lester could testify to stippling "under her umbrella as regarding gunshot residue." IX AA 1886. In other words, Lester's testimony during voir dire put the district court's concerns about Lester's expertise to rest. And given that voir dire testimony, the district court properly limited the scope of what, exactly, Lester would be allowed to testify: that is, what stippling is, and general distance ranges at which it can be seen. IX AA 1885–86. Even after additional argument by counsel, the district court retained these limitations. IX AA 1899–1900, 1903–06. And this was what Lester testified to. IX AA 1910. This was no abuse of discretion.

iv. The State did not ask leading questions about stippling distances.

Turner's complaint that the State asked a "leading question" with Lester is irrelevant. AOB at 45. The State asked Lester, "In your experience, have you seen stippling from a distance greater than 3 feet?" IX AA 1941. Although this was a yesor-no question—not a leading question that suggests the answer—the district court

sustained Turner's objection. IX AA 1941–45. Thus, there is no prejudice to Turner, and the handling of the question does not support his argument that the district court in any way abused its discretion. Indeed, when discussing how the State would rephrase the question, the district court again discussed that this was the very type of general distance question that would be permitted based on Lester's expertise. See IX AA 1899–1900, 1903–06. In the end, just as the district court explained it could, the State merely asked, "Based upon your experience with stippling, what is the shortest and furthest distances you have seen yourself?" IX AA 1946. Permitting this question, given the extensive discussion detailed *supra*, there was no abuse of discretion in the district court's handling of Lester as an expert witness.

B. Dr. Amy Urban: Medical Expert

As an initial matter, Turner's argument that there was insufficient notice regarding Dr. Urban is waived because the defense never objected to her being called. See, e.g., Dermody, 113 Nev. at 210–11, 931 P.2d at 1357. In fact, Turner's attorney invited the state to call a medical expert to rebut their proffered "dictionary definition" of stippling, stating:

[W]hen we're speaking of the evidence that's been presented in the case, we're obviously speaking about the expert [Lester] who testified, who testified to specifically stippling in the firearms context. We provided a medical definition. *Obviously, the State is able to bring their medical expert if they want to* today, right -- I mean, if they -- they called her.

X AA 1964–65 (emphasis added). When the State said, "if this is going to be an issue, then we'll call our doctor," Turner's attorney replied, "Okay. They should call their doctor." X AA 1967.

Here, Turner's attorney was referencing either the State's noticed medical doctors, who had been included from the initial Expert Notice, or Dr. Urban, Turner's treating physician who the Sate reached out to only after the defense proposed jury instructions on stippling. I AA 192–202; X AA 1964. The argument concerned the definition of stippling—about which the district court had already decided the State could present evidence. See Section II(B), supra. And the State noted that its evidence as to stippling would be rebuttal of the defense's proffered definition. X AA 1969. Thus, the district court did not err in permitting Dr. Urban to testify about stippling. Nor could the State have acted in bad faith. Given that the State was invited by the defense to present this expert for this purpose of medically defining stippling, Turner's "bad faith" argument falls flat. See Mitchell v. State, 124 Nev. 807, 819 n.24, 192 P.3d 721, 729 n.24 (2008) (holding that when the defendant is aware of what the expert will testify about at trial, there is no bad faith or prejudice to the defendant, even when the State fails to provide the NRS 174.234(2) expert witness disclosures); Jones v. State, 113 Nev. 454, 473, 937 P.2d 55, 67 (1997).

Finally, Turner's lack-of-notice claim fails because he and his defense team had access to *Turner's own medical records*, all along. XI AA 2317–58. Dr. Urban is noted as his treating physician throughout those records. See, e.g., XI AA 2337–46, 2348–50, 2352, 2355–56. In fact, Turner stipulated to the admission of his medical records, listed as State's Exhibit 401, during trial—a tacit admission that the "stippling" Dr. Urban speaks of in her medical reports was an appropriate subject for presentation to the jury. IX AA 1798–99; X AA 1984–85, 1978, 1989–90. Thus, the claim that the defense was not on notice as to what Dr. Urban would testify to is utterly nonsensical.

There is no plain error in this expert being permitted to testify, let alone one so prejudicial to Turner's substantial rights as to require reversal.

C. The State's Rebuttal Argument

Turner complains that the district court's decision to admit the testimony of these two experts somehow created error in the State's closing argument. AOB at 40–41. However, it is well-settled that the State may offer deductions and conclusions based upon the evidence. Parker v. State, 109 Nev. 383, 392, 849 P.2d 1062, 1068. Each instance Turner cites was merely the State's permissible comment on the evidence from Lester and Dr. Urban—evidence that had been properly admitted by the district court.

///

D. Testimony About Bullet Trajectory

Finally, in support of his "bad faith" argument, Turner complains that the State noticed Stephanie Fletcher and Robbie Dahn, Crime Scene Analysts, as lay witnesses rather than expert witnesses. AOB at 33, 47. However, Fletcher and Dahn were both notified in the first Expert Notice. II AA 263-64. Moreover, it was clarified upon Turner's objection that the State did not seek to have Dahn testify as an expert, that Dahn was "not going to be able to do the trajectory analysis," and that various objects in the photos Dahn used to testify "are not to -- the trajectory -merely a way to identify the hole in the walls." VI AA 1408, 1470, 1472, 1483–84. It was exactly the same with Fletcher. VIII AA 1543–46, 1559. In fact, when the district court clarified that it would only permit Fletcher to "give her measurements" and testify as to the . . . photographs," Turner's counsel stated that she had "no objection to that." VIII AA 1546. It is disingenuous to characterize such noticed, lay testimony as unnoticed expert testimony to force an argument of bad faith.

There was no error in permitting either expert witness to testify, and Turner has utterly failed to establish bad faith on the part of the State. This Court should reject this claim and affirm the Judgment of Conviction.

///

///

///

III. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN PERMITTING POLICE OFFICERS TO SIT IN THE COURTROOM DURING CLOSING ARGUMENTS

Third, Turner complains that the district court should have excluded the uniformed police officers who came to observe the trial's closing arguments. AOB at 50–52. However, as the district court found below, there was no basis for the district court to exclude officers from the courtroom or require them to appear in plainclothes—particularly in a case where one of their own had been shot and seriously injured. X AA 2017.

"Whenever a courtroom arrangement is challenged as inherently prejudicial," the key question is whether "an unacceptable risk is presented of impermissible factors coming into play." Holbrook v. Flynn, 475 U.S. 560, 570, 106 S. Ct. 1340, 1346–47 (1986). Appellant attempts to misrepresent the United States Supreme Court's considerations on the issue of uniformed officers in the courtroom. AOB at 52. While the Court does "not minimize the threat that a roomful of uniformed and armed policemen might pose to a defendant's chances of receiving a fair trial," the Court denied relief on those grounds in the very case Appellant cites. Id. at 570–71, 106 S. Ct. at 1347. Indeed, the Court stated, "we simply cannot find an unacceptable risk of prejudice in the spectacle of four such officers quietly sitting in the first row of a courtroom's spectator section." Id. That is, the High Court looks to the context of uniformed officers' presence when analyzing potential prejudice.

Turner has not indicated any factor, other than the officers' very presence, that could have prejudiced him. He does not indicate that, as in <u>Woods v. Dugger</u>, 923 F.2d 1454 (11th Cir. 1991), there was hostile media attention in combination with officers' presence at trial. He does not allege the officers attempted to draw attention to themselves, as with those trial observers who have worn buttons or jackets encouraging a particular verdict. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>Norris v. Risley</u>, 918 F.2d 828 (9th Cir. 1990). He does not allege the officers were disruptive. He does not allege the jury took any special notice of them. He does not even indicate how many officers were present. Indeed, without any indication that the situation was entirely unlike four uniformed officers sitting quietly in the front row of a courtroom, there is no indication that the district court erred in declining to exclude them—and there is no indication Turner suffered any prejudice.

As Turner's attorney herself admitted, a courtroom is a public area. X AA 2015. The district court offered to provide a curative instruction to the jury, given that the court's key concern was that "the jury is going to think that this is a security issue." X AA 2016. Both defense attorneys declined that instruction. X AA 2016–17. The district court concluded by stating, "a trial . . . is a public forum that can be attended by the public. We have transparency regarding trials. So if the parties aren't concerned about the security issue, I'm going to allow it." X AA 2017. Turner cannot demonstrate the district court erred in its decision, as he has not established that there

was any "unacceptable risk" of prejudice. <u>Holbrook</u>, 475 U.S. at 570, 106 S. Ct. at 1346–47. This Court should deny this claim and affirm the Judgment of Conviction.

IV. THERE WAS NO PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT

Fourth, Turner complains that the State committed prosecutorial misconduct during closing argument and rebuttal. AOB at 53–61. This argument is without merit, as the State is permitted to comment on the evidence and to respond to a defendant's arguments. Further, any alleged error was harmless, because there was more than sufficient evidence to convict Turner.

As an initial matter, as with several issues discussed *supra*, Appellant did not object to several of the prosecutor's statements below. Thus, those issues are waived. See, e.g., Dermody, 113 Nev. at 210–11, 931 P.2d at 1357. If reviewable at all, they may only be examined for plain error. Maestas, 128 Nev. at 146, 275 P.3d at 89; Martinorellan, 131 Nev. at ___, 343 P.3d at 594; Leonard, 117 Nev. at 66, 17 P.3d at 415; Mitchell v. State, 114 Nev. 1417, 971 P.2d 813, 819 (1998); Rippo v. State, 113 Nev. 1239, 946 P.2d 1017, 1030 (1997).

In resolving claims of prosecutorial misconduct, this Court undertakes a two-step analysis: determining whether the comments were improper; and deciding whether the comments were enough to deny the defendant a fair trial. <u>Valdez v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 1188, 196 P.3d 465, 476. The standard of review for prosecutorial misconduct rests upon a defendant showing "that the remarks made by

the prosecutor were 'patently prejudicial.'" Riker v. State, 111 Nev. 1316, 1328, 905 P.2d 706, 713 (1995) (citing Libby v. State, 109 Nev. 905, 911, 859 P.2d 1050, 1054 (1993)). This is based on a defendant's right to have a fair trial, not a perfect one. Ross v. State, 106 Nev. 924, 927, 803 P.2d 1104, 1105 (1990). This Court views the statements in context and will not lightly overturn a jury's verdict based upon a prosecutor's statements. Byars v. State, 130 Nev. ____, 336 P.3d 939, 950–51 (2014). Notably, "statements by a prosecutor, in argument... made as a deduction or conclusion from the evidence introduced in the trial are permissible and unobjectionable." Parker, 109 Nev. at 392, 849 P.2d at 1068 (quoting Collins v. State, 87 Nev. 436, 439, 488 P.2d 544, 545 (1971)). Further, the State may respond to defense theories and arguments. Williams v. State, 113 Nev. 1008, 1018–19, 945 P.2d 438, 444–45 (1997), receded from on other grounds, Byford v. State, 116 Nev. 215, 994 P.2d 700 (2000).

With respect to the second step, this Court will not reverse if the misconduct was harmless error. <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1188, 196 P.3d at 476. The proper standard of harmless-error review depends on whether the prosecutorial misconduct is of a constitutional dimension. <u>Id.</u> at 1188–89, 196 P.3d at 476. Misconduct may be constitutional if a prosecutor comments on the exercise of a constitutional right, or the misconduct "so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." <u>Id.</u> at 1189, 196 P.3d 476–77 (quoting

<u>Wainright</u>, 477 U.S. at 181, 106 S.Ct. at 2471). When the misconduct is of constitutional dimension, this Court will reverse unless the State demonstrates that the error did not contribute to the verdict. <u>Id.</u> 124 Nev. at 1189, 196 P.3d 476–77. When the misconduct is not of constitutional dimension, this Court "will reverse only if the error substantially affects the jury's verdict." <u>Id</u>.

Turner alleges four instances of prosecutorial misconduct.

A. Alleged Inflaming Passions of the Jury

Turner alleges the State attempted to inflame the passions of the jury by arguing that if the story of Turner's and Hudson's crimes were told over a drink, anyone would say, "Good, I'm glad you caught the two guys who shot the cops." AOB at 54–55; X AA 2086–87. Again, Turner did not object to this statement, and so the issue is waived unless this Court deigns to analyze the issue for plain error. See, e.g., Maestas, 128 Nev. at 146, 275 P.3d at 89.

This was not a "patently prejudicial" statement. Riker, 111 Nev. at 1328, 905 P.2d at 713. In fact, in context, the statement was made in rebuttal to the defense's closing argument and refers specifically to catching the "two guys" who shot the officers—evidenced by the prosecutor's very next statement that "[t]here is a whole lot of detail that went into the defense in this case trying to create alternate suspects where there are none." X AA 2087. The comment was about the apprehension of both Turner and Hudson—a direct rebuttal of the defense's closing argument that

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